1992

## GNS v. Fullmer : Brief of Appellant

Utah Court of Appeals

## JURISDICTION

The Court of Appeals has appellate jurisdiction of this appeal pursuant to Utah Code Ann. § 78-2a-3(2)(k).

### STATEMENT OF ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW, STANDARD OF APPELLATE REVIEW, AND SUPPORTING AUTHORITY

1. Did the trial court err in granting summary judgment for appellee Brad Fullmer (hereinafter "Fullmer") and denying partial summary judgment for appellants (hereinafter "Garbett") on the grounds that Garbett's insurer, State Farm Fire and Casualty Company ("State Farm") could not maintain this subrogation action because Fullmer, a tenant of Garbett's, was an implied co-insured under State Farm's fire insurance policy?

Standard of Review: In reviewing the granting of summary judgment, the court views the facts and all reasonable inferences drawn therefrom in a light most favorable to the losing party. Because a summary judgment resolves only questions of law, the court gives no deference to the trial court's legal determinations and affirms only if the decision was correct as a matter of law. Retherford v. AT&T Communications, \_\_\_\_\_ P.2d \_\_\_\_\_, 201 U.A.R. 21 (Utah 1992), and cases cited therein. The court may reconsider the trial court's legal conclusions. Winegar v. Froerer Corp., 813 P.2d 104 (Utah 1991).

2. Did the district court err in striking paragraphs 5 and 6 of David Houston's affidavit and in refusing to strike portions of paragraphs 3 and 5 of Fullmer's May 14, 1992, affidavit?

Standard of Review: Affidavits must set forth facts admissible in evidence and must not simply be conclusory in form. Norton v. Blackham, 669 P.2d 857 (Utah 1983); Butterfield v. Okubo, 831 P.2d 97 (Utah 1992). The court must determine whether the affidavit was made upon personal knowledge and whether the affiant was competent to testify to the matter stated therein. Rule 56, U.R.C.P.; Treloggan v. Treloggan, 699 P.2d 747 (Utah 1985); Howick v. Bank of Salt Lake, 28 Utah 2d 64, 498 P.2d 352 (1972).

#### DETERMINATIVE STATUTES AND RULES

1. Rule 56, Utah Rules of Civil Procedure.
2. Utah Code Ann., § 31A-21-108.

The foregoing rule and statute are set forth verbatim and attached hereto as Addendum 1.

#### STATEMENT OF THE CASE

##### A. Nature of the Case

Garbett owned the Wedge Apartments in St. George, Utah. Garbett had fire insurance on the apartments with State Farm. The apartments were damaged as a result of a fire negligently caused by Fullmer, one of Garbett's tenants. State Farm paid for the fire loss. This is a subrogation action brought by State Farm in the name of its insured, Garbett, to recover for the property damage caused by Fullmer's negligence.

##### B. Course of Proceedings

Garbett filed a motion for partial summary judgment on the issue of liability and causation of damages with the only remaining issue being the exact amount of damages. Fullmer filed a cross



motion for summary judgment. [Record on Appeal, hereinafter R., 48-49, 57, 121-122] The contested issue on both motions was whether a subrogation claim could be maintained against the tenant Fullmer. Garbett argued he was entitled to summary judgment on the grounds it was undisputed Fullmer had negligently caused the property damage. [R. 50-58] Garbett further argued that subrogation was not barred under Utah law as applied to the facts of this case. [R. 54-57, 166-177] Fullmer admitted his negligence caused the fire and damages, [R. 65-66, 224-225] but asserted State Farm could not pursue a subrogation claim against him, as a matter of law, because he was a co-insured under the fire policy issued by State Farm. [R. 127-139] The parties presented memoranda and affidavits in support of and in opposition to the respective motions. The motions were argued to the trial court on July 22, 1992. [R. 118-119, 213, 248]

C. Disposition in the Trial Court

Despite recognizing Fullmer was clearly negligent in causing the fire damage, [R. 251] the trial court denied Garbett's motion for partial summary judgment, granted Fullmer's motion for summary judgment, and dismissed Garbett's complaint. The trial court concluded, based on his interpretation of Fashion Place Inv. v. Salt Lake County, 776 P.2d 941 (Utah App. 1989), that where the lease between Garbett and Fullmer was silent regarding the obligation to provide insurance on the apartment building, then Fullmer, as a tenant, was presumed to be a co-insured under the State Farm fire policy. Therefore, the court concluded State Farm was barred from

maintaining a subrogation action against Fullmer. [R. 226, 293] Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law and Judgment were entered on August 18, 1992. [Addendum 2 attached hereto] Garbett's Notice of Appeal was filed on September 8, 1992. [Addendum 3 attached hereto]

Although the trial judge based his decision solely on his legal interpretation of the Fashion Place Inv. case, and did not rely either on Fullmer's affidavit or on various public policy arguments raised by Fullmer, [R. 295-296] the court nonetheless overruled Garbett's objections to Fullmer's May 14, 1992, affidavit, refusing to strike portions of paragraphs 3 and 5. [R. 163-165, 213, 233, 295-296] The court also refused to admit paragraphs 5 and 6 of David Houston's affidavit. [R. 218, 233, 258] In striking paragraphs 5 and 6, the court nonetheless held that "renter's insurance is available and plaintiffs do not need an affidavit to establish and argue the availability of renter's insurance to cover personal property owned by an insured and liability." [R. 233, 260-261]

A copy of the Houston Affidavit is attached hereto as Addendum 4. A copy of the Fullmer Affidavit is attached hereto as Addendum 5. A copy of the trial court's Order Regarding Motions to Strike is attached hereto as Addendum 6.

#### STATEMENT OF RELEVANT FACTS

On February 9, 1988, Fullmer signed a rental agreement with Garbett which permitted Fullmer to reside as a tenant in Apartment A6 of the Wedge Apartments for the winter and spring quarters of

the 1987-88 school year in St. George, Utah. [R. 7, 14, 59, 62-63, 223-224] Pursuant to the terms of the lease, Fullmer was obligated to pay rent of \$335 per quarter. [R. 62]

Under paragraph 1(b) of the lease, Fullmer agreed that:

Each tenant shall be responsible for all damages within their apartment on a joint and several basis. [R. 7, 14, 62, 224]

Under paragraph 4 of the lease, Fullmer agreed that:

No . . . destruction of property (Landlords or tenants's) shall be permitted on the premises (apartments, parking lot, sidewalks or lawns). [R. 7, 14, 62, 224] [Emphasis added]

The lease contained no terms or language which required the landlord to purchase fire insurance on the apartments. [R. 62-63, 224]

On February 22, 1988, approximately two weeks after Fullmer signed the lease agreement and while he was residing as a tenant in the Wedge Apartments, he used a hibachi barbecue at approximately 12:00 noon on the balcony of Apartment A6. [R. 60, 62-63, 224]

Following the noon barbecue on February 22, 1988, Fullmer left the coals in the hibachi. [R. 60, 224]

At approximately 7:00 p.m. on February 22, 1988, Fullmer prepared the same hibachi for another barbecue on the balcony of Apartment A6. In the process, Fullmer dumped the coals remaining in the hibachi from the noon barbecue in a cardboard box located in the balcony closet [R. 60, 224], which the trial court described as "a consummately negligent act." [R. 251]

At approximately 1:00 a.m. on February 23, 1988, a fire started in the storage area of Apartment A6. The fire was started by the smoldering coals and ashes negligently placed in the storage closet by Fullmer. [R. 7-8, 14, 65-66, 224-225]

Garbett insured the Wedge Apartments against fire losses through State Farm. State Farm's insurance policy does not include tenants (Fullmer) either as named insureds or as insureds by definition. [R. 68-97, 220-222, 225]

State Farm paid for the fire loss suffered by Garbett in this case in an amount in excess of \$70,000. This action was brought as a subrogation claim against Fullmer pursuant to contractual rights provided under Section I and Section II, General Condition No. 7 of the insurance policy. [R. 96, 225] State Farm's subrogation claim was submitted to Prudential Insurance Company, the home owner's insurer for Fullmer, through Fullmer's parents' home owner's policy with Prudential. Prudential never claimed to State Farm that Prudential's home owner's policy did not provide liability coverage for Brad Fullmer. [R. 217-219]

The lease between the parties is silent on the issue of insurance, and there was no discussion between the parties to the lease regarding insurance. [R. 62-63, 225]

The lease provides in part that:

It is the intent of the landlord and their managers to keep The Wedge in superior condition. [R. 62, 225]

The fire which is the subject of this action was caused by Fullmer's negligence. There was privity of contract between Garbett and Fullmer with respect to the lease agreement. [R. 225]

#### SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

1. The trial court erred in concluding that a subrogation action could not be maintained against a tenant who negligently caused fire damage to the landlord's property even though the lease agreement did not require the landlord to provide fire insurance on the property. The trial court erroneously interpreted Fashion Place Inv. to confer implied co-insured status on Fullmer under Garbett's fire insurance policy even though the lease was silent regarding the obligation to maintain insurance. In fact, Fashion Place Inv. held just the opposite, i.e., a tenant was determined to be an implied co-insured only because the lease agreement expressly required the landlord to provide fire insurance on the property.

2. There are three possible circumstances under Utah law where a subrogation claim against a tenant could be barred: first, where the lease requires the landlord to obtain fire insurance; second, where the tenant is a named insured or an insured by definition under the policy; and third, where the lease agreement expressly exempts the tenant from liability for negligently caused fire damage. None of these circumstances are applicable in the instant case. The lease did not require Garbett to maintain fire insurance, Fullmer was not a named insured or an insured by definition under the terms of the policy, and the lease did not exempt Fullmer from liability for fire damage. Thus, under both

traditional tort and subrogation concepts, this subrogation action against Fullmer should not have been dismissed.

3. Public policy arguments espoused in some jurisdictions as a basis for holding a tenant to be a co-insured solely because he is a tenant, and thus free from liability on any subrogation action, should not be adopted by this court. Such public policy considerations ignore the basic premises underlying subrogation, i.e., that the loss should be borne by the party whose negligence caused it, and that the subrogated insurer's rights are the same as the rights of its insured. In the instant case, Garbett clearly would have a right of action against Fullmer for negligently caused damage. These rights should not be barred simply because Fullmer was a tenant. Courts which have adopted this rationale have based their conclusions on ill-conceived and/or clearly incorrect factual and/or legal assumptions. For example, one erroneous assumption is that allowing subrogation against a tenant will force the property to be double insured for fire loss.

4. It is not inequitable for Fullmer to be held responsible for his own negligence. Such is the common law rule absent an express agreement to the contrary.

5. In the event the Court of Appeals believes an affidavit is necessary to establish the availability of renter's insurance to cover tenant's personal liability, then the trial court's striking of paragraphs 5 and 6 of David Houston's affidavit should be overruled and the entire affidavit admitted. If no such affidavit

is necessary, then Garbett withdraws his objection to the court's striking of those paragraphs.

6. If the Court reverses the trial court's grant of summary judgment for Fullmer, then the Court should enter partial summary judgment for Garbett. The Court should reverse the trial court's overruling of Garbett's objections to portions of paragraphs 3 and 5 of Fullmer's affidavit regarding his reasonable expectations about insurance coverage on the building. Those provisions were conclusory in nature and did not properly meet the requirements of Rule 56 for an affidavit. Moreover, reasonable expectations of the parties is not a basis for establishing co-insured status under Utah law. The Utah Supreme Court has rejected the reasonable expectations doctrine in construing insurance policies. Fullmer's affidavit does not create any material fact issue which would preclude the Court of Appeals from ordering entry of partial summary judgment for Garbett.

#### ARGUMENT

#### POINT I.

THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN GRANTING SUMMARY  
JUDGMENT FOR FULLMER AND DISMISSING STATE  
FARM'S SUBROGATION CLAIM.

The trial court's granting of summary judgment for Fullmer was based solely on the court's interpretation of Fashion Place Inv., Inc. v. Salt Lake County, 776 P.2d 941 (Utah App. 1989), stated as follows:

Where the lease between these parties was silent with respect to insurance or any obligation to provide insurance, the court

concludes, based upon the authority of Fashion Place Inv. v. Salt Lake County, . . . that the defendant-lessee Fullmer is presumed to be a co-insured under the landlord's fire insurance policy and therefore no subrogation action may be prosecuted against the tenant Fullmer.

[R. 226] Notwithstanding the foregoing conclusion, the trial court readily acknowledged "there's no question in my mind that this case needs to go up to the Court of Appeals because I think they have left a very questionable circumstance in the Fashion Place Inv. case." [R. 293]

It is Garbett's position that the trial court misinterpreted Fashion Place Inv., and in the process adopted a broad concept barring subrogation against a tenant solely because he is a tenant. None of the applicable Utah cases have adopted such a concept, and Garbett urges this Court not to do so.

A. Utah Law Allows Subrogation Against a Tenant Except in Three Specific Circumstances, None of Which Are Present in the Instant Case.

The applicable Utah cases set forth three circumstances in which a subrogation claim may not be maintained against a negligent party defendant -- first, where the fire insurance policy includes the defendant as a named insured or as an insured by definition, Board of Education of Jordan School Dist. v. Hales, 566 P.2d 1246 (Utah 1977); Fashion Place, Inv., supra; second, where the lease agreement exempts or excuses the tenant from liability for damages caused by fire, see Bonneville on the Hill Co. v. Sloane, 572 P.2d 402 (Utah 1977); and third, where the lease agreement specifically



requires the landlord to maintain fire insurance, Fashion Place Inv. v. Salt Lake County, supra.

1. Tenant Is Named Insured or Insured By Definition.

In Hales, supra, the defendant against whom the subrogation action was asserted was a subcontractor, and the insurance policy expressly stated that subcontractors on the job were covered insureds. The insurer even paid a first-party claim made by the defendant subcontractor. Under those circumstances, the Utah Supreme Court held no subrogation action could be maintained. Although the defendant in Hales was not a tenant, the principle set forth is applicable to the instant case. Fullmer was not a named insured, nor was he an insured by definition under the State Farm policy, and therefore State Farm's subrogation claim cannot be barred on those grounds.

2. Lease Exempts Tenant's Liability.

In Bonneville, supra, defendant-tenant had a lease agreement with the landlord which expressly absolved the tenant from damages caused to the premises by fire. Although the case does not specifically discuss subrogation, it is clear that the landlord obtained and paid for fire insurance. The Supreme Court held no claim could be maintained by the landlord against the tenant because of the exculpatory clause in the lease. Since an insurer's rights could be no greater than the insured's (landlord's), the exculpatory clause would not only bar the landlord's claim, but also a subrogation claim of the insurer. See also Rizzuto v. Morris, 22 Wash. App.

951, 592 P.2d 688 (Wash. App. 1979) (court disallowed subrogation where lease exempted tenant from liability for fire damage).

The Bonneville rule does not apply to Fullmer. The lease with Garbett does not exempt Fullmer from liability for damages caused by fire. On the contrary, under paragraph 4 of the lease, Fullmer expressly agreed that he would not destroy any property, including the apartments. He breached that contractual duty by negligently causing over \$70,000 in fire damage to the property.

3. Lease Requires Landlord to Provide Fire Insurance.

In Fashion Place Inv., the lease specifically required the landlord to obtain fire insurance on the building. The court concluded the tenant was a de facto co-insured under the policy because of this express requirement for the landlord to purchase insurance as part of its contractual obligations owed under the lease to the tenant. The court stated that "[w]here the insured [landlord] is required by contract or lease to carry insurance for the benefit of another, the other party [tenant] may attain the status of a de facto coinsured even if not named as an insured in the policy obtained." 776 P.2d at 944-45 (emphasis added).

There is a reasonable basis for the Fashion Place Inv. holding, namely that where the landlord has specifically promised to purchase fire insurance, then that insurance is part of the consideration to which the tenant is entitled under the terms of the lease, and the insurance so purchased is intended to cover the risk of the tenant's negligent acts. However, just like the Hales and Bonneville holdings, the Fashion Place Inv. rule also does not

apply to Fullmer because his lease did not require Garbett, nor did Garbett ever agree, to provide fire insurance on the apartment complex.

B. A Lease Which is Silent on Insurance Does Not Make Fullmer a Co-Insured Under State Farm's Fire Policy.

The trial court recognized that no Utah case, including Fashion Place Inv., has ever held a tenant, (solely because of his status as a tenant), to be a co-insured under a fire insurance policy obtained by his landlord.

If the Court of Appeals had intended to adopt such a broad principle in Fashion Place Inv., it could have easily said so. It did not.<sup>1</sup> The Court's express reliance on the language in the lease requiring the landlord to purchase fire insurance as a basis for denying subrogation shows the limited nature of the holding. Yet contrary to that holding, the trial court ruled that a tenant is a co-insured when the lease says nothing about insurance. Thus, instead of following Fashion Place Inv., the trial court reached the exact opposite result.

Garbett purchased fire insurance to protect his interests as owner of the property, not because of any contractual obligation owed to Fullmer. If Garbett had not purchased fire insurance, Fullmer would not have had a claim for breach of contract, but when

---

<sup>1</sup>In fact, the Court of Appeals clearly identified the issue raised on appeal by Fashion Place was whether the lease provision requiring the landlord to obtain insurance made the tenant a coinsured. ("Fashion Place argues on appeal that the trial court erred in ruling that Salt Lake County is a coinsured of the landlord. Fashion Place contends that a lease provision requiring the landlord to provide insurance does not by itself expressly or impliedly exempt the tenant from the financial consequences of its own negligence." 776 P 2d at 943)

Fullmer negligently burned up the building, Garbett could have maintained an action against Fullmer for damages. See Cluff v. Culmer, 556 P.2d 498 (Utah 1976), confirming the tenant's common law implied covenant not to damage leased premises, and citing with approval 49 Am.Jur.2d Landlord and Tenant § 922 which states:

This implied covenant is as much a part of the contract of lease as if it were incorporated into it by express language. If, by the negligence . . . of a tenant, the demised property is materially injured, he is liable for the resultant damage, and the landlord may recover the amount thereof from him . . .

And since this is a subrogation claim, State Farm's rights of recovery are as great as the landlord's own rights to recover for damage caused by its tenant. U.S. Fidelity & Guar. v. Let's Frame It, 759 P.2d 819, 820 (Colo. App. 1988). Moreover, pursuant to Utah Code Ann. § 31A-21-108, the legislature has expressly authorized insurers to maintain subrogation actions in the name of their insureds.

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