1992

## GNS v. Fullmer : Brief of Appellee

Utah Court of Appeals

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

The presumption that insurance purchased by GNS was for the benefit of the tenant, unless expressly agreed otherwise, should be given even more emphasis in this particular case. The rental agreement at issue (R. 147, 148), while loosely referred to as a lease, is in reality a dorm contract. The dorm contract contains a provision for the parent's guaranty (which was not signed in this case). The guaranty recognizes that the agreement may be the student's "first experience with tenant/landlord relationships." The dorm contract called for quarterly and not monthly rental. The

rooms were furnished and the tenant's conduct was subject to restrictive limitations which would not ordinarily be found in rental agreements. Paragraph 6 of the agreement indicates that no refunds of deposits will be made to tenants who have breached the rules and regulations. The landlord even had the right to move Fullmer from unit to unit - much like a hotel guest. In spite of all of these rules, and the disparate bargaining power, there is nothing in the dorm contract to suggest that the landlord would not be insuring the property for the benefit of all involved, or that the tenant should obtain separate fire insurance.

The denial of subrogation to State Farm is consistent with prior Utah decisions, and consistent with the "modern trend" of cases. Sutton v. Jondahl, *supra*. Cascade Trailer Court v. Beeson, 749 P.2d 761 (Wash. App. 1988); Safeco Insurance Co. v. Weisgerber, 767 P.2d 271 (Idaho 1989); Safeco Insurance Co. v. Capri, 705 P.2d 659 (Nev. 1985); Rizzuto v. Morris, 592 P.2d 688 (1979); Alaska Insurance Co. v. RCA Alaskan Communications, Inc., 623 P.2d 1216 (Alaska 1981); Fashion Place Inv. v. Salt Lake County, 776 P.2d 944 (Utah App. 1989), cert. den. 783 P.2d 53 (Utah 1989); Continental Insurance v. Bottomly, 817 P.2d 1162 (Mont. 1991); Fireman's Insurance Co. v. Wheeler, 566 N.Y.S.2d 692 (1991); Keeton, Basic Text on Insurance Law, §4.4b (1971).

In Cascade Trailer Corp. v. Beeson, 749 P.2d 761 (Wash. App. 1988) three men rented a dwelling unit from Cascade. A fire was started by one of the tenants when he left a pan of grease unattended on an electric stove. The lease required the tenants to redeliver the premises in good condition. The owner's insurance company paid the loss and brought a subrogation action against the tenant. The issue presented for resolution by the court was whether the tenants ". . . [were] implied co-insureds under Cascade's fire insurance policy, thus defeating the insured's right of subrogation against them?" (at 762) The Washington Appellate Court analyzed many of the cases which have addressed the issue, including the public policy issues which they presented and ruled in favor of the tenant stating (at 766):

Whether rent covers all of the landlord's expenses, including insurance premiums [referring to Sutton] is not the critical question. Rather, the issue concerns the party's reasonable expectations. Where the landlord has secured fire insurance covering the leased premises, the tenant can reasonably expect the insurance to cover him as well, unless the parties have specifically agreed otherwise. Why? - because the tenant is in privity of contract with the landlord, and he has a property interest in the premises the insurance protects.

The court concluded:

We adopt the reasonable expectations rationale of the Sutton line of cases and hold Cascade is presumed to carry its insurance for the

tenant benefit because the lease did not contain an express provision to the contrary.

(a.

As is true in this case, there was no requirement in the rental agreement in Cascade that required either the landlord or the tenant to provide insurance.

In Safeco Insurance Companies v. Weisgerber, 767 P.2d 271 (Idaho 1989), Safeco brought a subrogation action to recover amounts which it had paid on account of a fire caused by the negligence of a tenant in a rental home. On competing motions for summary judgment, the trial court ruled in favor of the tenant. The tenant testified that he did not obtain fire insurance on the real property because the landlord never requested that he do so and he did not feel it was his responsibility. The Idaho Court rejected the notion that the tenant should be liable and stated:

denial of a right to subrogation in this instance prevents windfalls to insurers, prevents the double-insuring of property and places the risk where it was intended to be, on the landlord's insurance carrier which has collected premiums to cover the loss insured against." (at 274)

In Safeco Insurance Company v. Capri, 705 P.2d 659 (Nev. 1985) Safeco brought an action against a tenant who negligently caused a fire that burned down a rental property. The Nevada Supreme Court relied on many of the cases already discussed and made the following separate observations:

It is not uncommon for the lessor to provide fire insurance on the leased property. As a matter of sound business practice, the premium to be paid had to be considered in establishing the rental rate. (661) . . .

Moreover, insurance companies expect to pay their insureds for negligently caused fires and adjust their rates accordingly. In this context, an insurer should not be allowed to treat a tenant, who is in privity with the insured landlord, as a negligent third party when it could not collect against its own insured had the insured negligently caused the fire. (661)

The *Rizzuto* [*Rizzuto v. Morris*, 592 P.2d 688 (Wash. Ap. 1979)] court concluded that if the [landlord] did not expect to cover the [tenant] under the policy, then they should have expressly notified the [tenant] of the need for a second policy to cover its interest. "Since they failed to do so, they have no cause of action against the lessee for the fire damage, and the insurance company has no right of subrogation." (661)

In *Continental Insurance Co. v. Bottomly*, 817 P.2d 1162 (Mont. 1991) the Montana Supreme Court adopted the rationale in *Sutton* and refused a subrogation claim arising out of a cabin fire. The fire was caused by the owner's brother who was a regular user, but not an owner, of the cabin. The Montana court focused particularly upon the discussion from *Sutton* that "subrogation is a fluid concept depending upon the particular facts and circumstances of a given case for its applicability. To some facts subrogation will adhere - to others it will not."

In Iowa National Insurance v. Boatright, 516 P.2d 439 (Colo. 1973) the court rejected a subrogation claim against a father who negligently started a fire in his daughter's home.

State Farm attempts to argue that reasonable expectations of the parties to the lease should play no role in the outcome of this litigation. (State Farm Memorandum, p. 25). The Allen v. Prudential Property & Casualty Insurance, 839 P.2d 798 (Utah 1992) case relied upon by State Farm addresses the issue of "reasonable expectations" in a very limited context where the express language in the insurance contract was contrary to what the insured claimed were her "reasonable expectations". In this case, the lease is silent on the issue of insurance. The Allen case has no factual relationship to this case.

The law generally is that a contract includes those items which were understood by or obvious to the parties in the circumstances of the agreement. This is especially true in this case where the contract is not integrated, and is silent on the issue of insurance. 17 A Am.Jur.2d, Contracts §379. Fullmer testified that he did not understand he could have been required to obtain separate insurance, to insure the structure, and that he would have expected the owner to have his own insurance. (R. 144, 156). The owner did not testify that he had any different expectation. Under these circumstances, an implied term of the

lease was that the landlord would provide fire insurance for the benefit of the tenant and the landlord.

This court should also consider the interpretation of the lease given to it by the parties. Bullfrog Marina, Inc. v. Lentz, 501 P.2d 266 (Ut. 1972). It is not the landlord that is pressing this case. It is the insurer. The landlord did not evict Fullmer because of the fire. The landlord did not attempt to recover any damages from Fullmer or his roommates based upon any language in the lease. No assessment was made by the landlord. It is clear from both the landlord and the tenant's conduct that they expected the landlord's insurer to repair the property in exchange for the premiums it had received. The conduct of both the landlord and tenant clearly evidences an understanding by them that the landlord was providing fire insurance on the property for their mutual benefit.

State Farm has attempted on several occasions in their brief (pages 24 and 22) to interject facts about whether or not Fullmer has coverage through his parents' homeowners policy. The only possible reason for State Farm to include this discussion is to affect the court's decision on the issue of liability. Rule 411 of the Utah Rules of Evidence would expressly exclude this type of evidence at trial. This discussion should not be considered by this court on the issue of liability. Even if it is considered,



there is no evidence to support the conclusion that even if Fullmer's parents had insurance, that it would cover the loss at issue, or what the limit of Fullmer's parents' policy was.

State Farm's argument raises a more disturbing public policy factor. The policy issued by State Farm insured the premises for \$1.5 million. (R. 229) Even if Fullmer was required to obtain a tenant's policy, the policy would have had to have insured Fullmer for \$1.5 million if it were to protect him from fire loss to the property. (The whole project could have burned.) And what about the family that has two children at college, each living in a large dormitory or apartment complex worth tens of millions of dollars. If State Farm's argument is adopted, that family would have to procure liability insurance with a face value of tens of millions of dollars. While insurance companies would no doubt enjoy the premium income from such policies, as a matter of public policy, it is far more reasonable for the insurer of the apartment or dormitory property to include the conduct of tenants in its evaluation of risks and in establishing premiums, thus placing the cost of insuring the risk upon the landlord, who then is in a position to pass it on to the tenant in a pro rata manner.

In any event, State Farm's attempt to interject this issue ignores the fact that it was the landlord's obligation to provide

fire insurance for the benefit of both parties, absent express language in the lease to the contrary.

The case of U.S. Fidelity & Guaranty v. Let's Frame It, 759 P.2d 819 (Colo. App. 1988) (page 14 of State Farm's brief) is distinguishable on several bases. The most important of these is the specific requirement in the lease that the tenant maintain insurance, thus negating any implication that the landlord's insurance was for the benefit of both the landlord and the tenant.

On numerous occasions through its brief, State Farm misstates Sutton's holding as being that "a tenant is a co-insured simply because he is a tenant." (Page 21) Sutton's holding is actually much narrower, to wit, "that in the absence of an express agreement between [the landlord and tenant] to the contrary . . .". (532 P.2d at 482) the tenant is an implied co-insured. State Farm then argues that as a practical matter the chances that such language would be included in the lease are "almost nill". This contention ignores reality. It is the landlord that prepares the lease and can place the language in the lease. It is the insurance company that can require the landlord to put the language in the lease. The insurance company can do this by eliminating the exceptions to subrogation in the policies. This court must assume that there is some competitive advantage to State Farm to issue policies which

allow landlords to waive subrogation rights and which do not force landlords to require tenants to obtain their own insurance.

Public policy should require that a tenant be affirmatively placed on notice in the lease of the need to obtain fire insurance to overcome the "reasonable expectation" that the landlord is obtaining insurance for their mutual benefit. In the absence of such notice or requirement in the lease, subrogation should be denied.

State Farm argues that to not find Fullmer ultimately liable in this case turns traditional tort law upside down. (Page 21) Indeed, insurance does, to a large extent, turn tort law upside down. Insurance protects people against negligence, even their own negligence. Insurance is a device used to allocate risk. Insurance is a device which allows parties to plan their affairs. Subrogation is but a narrow aspect of insurance. The wide factual variation in the cases which have applied and adopted Sutton emphasize the critical role that policy factors and the expectation of the parties have played in the determination of subrogation rights.

At the outset of this brief, Fullmer observed that this case is not about negligence or proximate cause, but is about allocation of risk. The district court's decision places the risk in this case exactly where it belongs, upon the insurance company that

established and accepted premiums, which were determined after consideration of all risks and in light of the landlord's right to give up the company's subrogation rights, to insure the premises against fire, and not on a 20-year old dorm resident. The district court's decision places the burden upon the landlord, who is in the position to expressly require the tenant in the lease to obtain insurance if the tenant was expected to do so. The district court's decision advances what Robert Keeton, supra, and the modern trend of cases calls the "reasonable expectations" of the parties.

## II

### THE TRIAL COURT RULED PROPERLY WITH RESPECT TO THE AFFIDAVITS OF BRAD FULLMER AND DAVID HOUSTON.

(a) David Houston Affidavit. Rule 56(e) of the Utah Rules of Civil Procedure provides that "supporting or opposing affidavits shall be made on personal knowledge, shall set forth such facts as would be admissible in evidence, and shall show affirmatively that the affiant is competent to testify to the matters stated therein." In addition, they must set forth "specific facts showing that there is a genuine issue for trial."

Mr. Houston's affidavit (R. 217) states that he was a claims superintendent for State Farm for five years. The affidavit goes on to make additional statements, some of which were stricken by the trial court. In particular, the trial court struck Mr.

Houston's testimony in paragraph 5 and 6 discussing his belief regarding homeowner's policies coverage and children living away from home and tenant policies.

The trial court's ruling striking those paragraphs was correct for several reasons. Houston does not set forth any personal knowledge regarding the Prudential policy which the stricken paragraphs purport to address or the extent of its coverage. The affidavit does not provide any foundation to support a conclusion that Houston has any knowledge of policies issued by any company other than State Farm. The affidavit does not state that Houston has any background in underwriting, or any experience except in claims. Houston's affidavit is not responsive to the issue of the reasonable expectation of the parties to the rental agreement. Mr. Houston's affidavit does not address the limits of coverage available in a tenant policy. Mr. Houston's affidavit does not address State Farm's underwriting practices, the factors State Farm considered in setting the premium for the apartments, and most curiously, whether or not State Farm expected that subrogation would be available at the time it wrote the policy and set its rates. The affidavit is not responsive to the proposition that in modern urban dwelling, it is presumed that the apartment owner will procure insurance for the benefit of both the owner and the tenant.

In summary, the stricken portions of the affidavit were not based on personal knowledge and were not relevant to the issues before the court.

State Farm has the burden to show that, in addition to the trial court's ruling being in error, that there is a "reasonable likelihood" that if the ruling had been otherwise there would have been a different result. Redevelopment Agcy. v. Mitsui Inv., Inc., 522 P.2d 1370 (Utah 1974).

For all of these reasons, the court's ruling striking paragraphs 5 and 6 was correct because the affidavit was not relevant to any issue regarding liability and was not based on personal knowledge. If the court erred, it was in allowing any part of the affidavit to be received. At a minimum, any error was harmless error. Rule 61, U.R.C.P.

(b) Fullmer Affidavit. State Farm argues that Fullmer's Affidavit was based on hindsight, and as such, must be stricken. Initially, the trial court stated that the affidavit did not affect its decision. Therefore, any error in the trial court's ruling is harmless error. Rule 61, U.R.C.P.

Rule 401, Utah Rules of Evidence, provides that relevant evidence means evidence having a tendency to make the existence of any fact that is of consequence to the determination of the action more probable or less probable than it would be without the

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